I. IDEN ITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is Karen Jo son, the Plaintiff and a former employee of 

the State of Washington. 

II. OURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review f the Court of Appeals Division I 

published opinion entered on N vember 12, 2013, Johnson v. State of 

Washington Department ofTra sportation. 

III. NTRODUCTION

This case arises under t e Washington Law Against 

Discrimination, RCW 49.60, et seq. The published opinion of the Court of 

Appeals conflicts with well-est blished Supreme Court precedent for 

liberal awards of fees and costs "to make it financially feasible to litigate 

civil rights violations, to enable vigorous enforcement of modem civil 

rights litigation ... to compens e fully attorneys whose service has 

benefited the public interest an to encourage them to accept these cases 

where the litigants are often po r and the judicial remedies are often 

nonmonetary." Blair v. Washin ton State University, I 08 Wn.2d 558, 573-

74 (1987). In this case, 40% of ocumented attorney hours incurred to 

achieve Johnson's CR 68 Offer of Judgment of$350,000. were cut from 

the fee award. The published o inion further, as a matter of law, in an 

"issue of first impression" deni s Johnson any award of"costs" for fees of 



Johnson's treating psychologist who assisted counsel in complex 

disability issues and damages i sues with document review, reports, 

declarations, extra documentati n of treatment, and preparation for 

deposition and trial testimony, n the basis that litigation related fees of 

treating professionals may not e recovered as "costs", and reducing by 

85% of the costs actually incu ed by Johnson to professionally prepare 

and present her successful WL D case. This important published opinion 

rejects appellant Johnson's arg menton this important published issue of 

first impression which undermi es the strong public policy and public 

interest in enforcement of the ashington Law Against Discrimination. 

"If the Citizen does not have th resources, his day in court is denied him; 

the congressional policy which he seeks to assert and vindicate goes 

unvindicated; and the entire Na ion, not just the individual citizen, 

suffers." Ermine v. City ofSpo ane, 143 Wn 2d 636,648-649 (2001), 

citing City of Riverside v. Rive , 477 U.S. 561, 575 (1976). 

IV. SENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Review should be grant d to determine whether, a CR 68 Offer of 

Judgment in a WLAD fl e shifting case, includes "fees on fees" for 

having to prepare a fee etition. 

B. Where the State of Was ington paid fees for preparing a Fee 

Petition on a CR 68 off! r of judgment involving the WLAD and 
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less than six months lat r denied the same on an identically worded 

CR 68 offer in another LAD case, and represented to Johnson 

that "it did not know" i such fees would be paid under her Offer of 

Judgment, should the St te be held under a course of dealing to 

have to pay fees on this ee petition? 

C. Given the public interes and policies behind the WLAD, should 

the time of fact witness edical providers, who are not retained as 

expert medical witnesse , be compensable pursuant to this cost 

shifting statute, as a liti ation cost? 

D. Review should be grant d to determine whether detailed, 

documented, reconstruc ed attorney time entries based on 

contemporaneous docu ents and records, should be allowed. 

E. Review should be grant d to determine, consistent with Supreme 

Court precedent, that att mey fees on issues and time which arise 

from a common core of aw and facts directly related to the 

successful claims, shoul be compensated in a case arising under 

the WLAD. 

V. STAT MENT OF THE CASE 

This case arises under t e Washington Law Against Discrimination 

("WLAD"). CP 1-24. Appellan Karen Johnson ("Johnson") received an 

Offer of Judgment from the Res ondent State of Washington; Department 
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ofTransportation ("DOT") in t e amount of$350,000.00, which was 

accepted and has been paid. Th Offer of Judgment also provided that: 

Defendant ... offers t pay ... Johnson's awardable costs and 
reasonable attorney's ees accrued in this lawsuit up to the 
date/time of this Offer, hich sum shall be determined by the King 
County Superior Court in the event that counsel for the parties 
cannot agree within I days of [Johnson's] timely acceptance. 
[Johnson's] claimed co ts and fees shall be substantiated by billing 
records attached to [Jo son's] acceptance of this Offer detailing 
the nature and date oft e work performed and hours accrued. 

CP 532-534. 

The parties could not a ee upon the amount of "awardable costs 

and reasonable attorney fees" ithin the I 0 day period. Thus the case 

continued in months of expensi e litigation, followed by an appeal. 

Johnson prepared and filed a F e Petition supported by expert testimony, 

to recover her additional statut ry remedies of "reasonable attorney fees 

and costs" awardable to the inj red party under WLAD, RCW 49.60.030. 

The State contested the Fee Pet tion with its own expert and other 

challenges. The trial court awa ded some fees and costs to Johnson, but 

denied a significant portion oft e reasonable fees and costs sought. CP 

I475-I482. Karen Johnson wa a Human Resource Professional in the 

Washington State Department [Transportation ("DOT") who was 

rendered ill and disabled by dis riminatory and retaliatory conduct 

directed at her and others. 
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The DOT obtained a co tinuance, and then moved to amend their 

Answer with defensive allegati ns that Johnson's injuries were somehow 

caused by her treating counsel r. CP 325-329, 343. Those allegations were 

a clear psychological and legal hreat to begin an attack on Johnson's 

treating PTSD counselor if she id not accept the Offer of Judgment 

within the 10 day window. Jo son's attorney sought expert ethics 

counsel for advice on that tacti from the firm of Talmadge and 

Fitzpatrick. 

Johnson's expert econo ist prepared a report and an updated 

report as her medical situation hanged. In the report, her damages had a 

range topping over $900,000. P 600-611. The amount of the Offer of 

Judgment Johnson decided to a cept was due to her inability to withstand 

further stress and conflict. 

The trial court found a .3x multiplier on the attorney fees was 

appropriate: "This case present d high risks and difficulties related to 

Plaintiffs post-traumatic stress and anxiety as well as the resources 

available to a large public agen y to defend the action." CP 1480, citing 

Pham v. City of Seattle, 159 W .2d 527, 541 (2007). 

However, with the othe hand the trial court severely reduced the 

attorney hours to be recovered, from 327.94 partner hours documented in 

detail and requested to 189.99 warded; associate hours from 67.93 to 
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41.27; and paralegal hours fro 25.97 to 15.06. CP 1481. Effectively the 

1.3x multiplier was canceled o t and a significant portion of Johnson's 

recovered attorney fees were w ped away. 

Johnson's attorney fees documented in detail and "in good faith," 

necessary to achieve a substant al judgment of $350,000.00 (plus a fee 

shifting outcome) under RCW 9.60.030, were slashed by 41.8%, and the 

costs were slashed by 81.5%. 

The trial court found th t any hours expended by Petitioner 

Johnson's counsel on litigating fees and costs after the acceptance of the 

Offer of Judgment were not rec verable, citing the terms of the Offer of 

Judgment and the case ofGuer ero v. Cummings, 70 F.3d 1111,1113 (9th 

Cir. 1995). CP 14 78. Time an costs disallowed on this basis totaled 

59.76 partner hours, 5.85 Asso iate hours, 4.08 Paralegal Hours, and 

$7,438.91 in costs, prior to app al. The Court of Appeals at 7-13 adopted 

the reasoning of Guerrero and ffirmed the trial court. 

The trial court erroneou ly found that the hours spent by Johnson's 

counsel "in the unsuccessful ad inistrative claim and on depositions 

limited to the administrative cl im are not recoverable." Pham, 159 Wn.2d 

at 538; CP 1478. This cut 27.4 artner hours and 25.18 associate hours 

from the fee petition total. CP 1478. The time largely represents 

depositions taken by Petitioner Johnson while her tort claim and 
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administrative appeal of termin tion were both pending. All depositions 

were related to the civil case 

and issues were indistinguisha 

did not have to be retaken as the facts 

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals at p. 7 simply stated that it 

would not disturb a decision of a trial court on attorneys' fees absent an 

abuse of discretion and found n ne. 

Further, the trial court d"d not question counsels' good faith as to 

"non-contemporaneous time re ords," but found that the reconstructed 

time was "unreliable" and deni d I 00% of those entries. CP 14 79-1480. 

On that basis the trial court cut additional 58.54 partner hours and .15 

paralegal hours for documente work. CP 1480. The Court of Appeals at 

pp. 15-16 affirmed the trial cou 's slashing of billable hours, despite the 

declaration of Petitioner's coun el that she had "personal knowledge and 

memory of the work done on t is case and entered time only that I had 

personal knowledge of and for hich there was a record in the file, letters, 

emails, pleadings, depositions, hone notes, and the like showing the work 

done." CP 1213. 

Finally, the trial court d nied Johnson any recovery for costs 

attributable to litigation-related time of Dr. Timothy Reisenauer on the 

basis that he was a treating me ical provider and not retained as an expert. 

This deleted $42,968.56 from J hnson' s cost petition. CP 1481. The Court 
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of Appeals affirmed this result s well at pp. I6-2I in a case of first 

. . 
ImpressiOn. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. FEES INCURRED IN PREPARING FEE PETITION 

I. Public Policy 

Attorney fees and costs i curred on a fee petition are recognized as 

recoverable in fee shifting cases. Fisher v. Arden Mayfair, II5 Wn.2d 364, 

378,798 P.2d 799 (1990); Steel v. Lundgren, 96 Wn.App.773, 78I, 982 

P .2d 6I9 ( I999). Petitioner is un ware of any other appellate decision under 

RCW 49.60.030 and CR 68 that would deny such fees for litigation of a fee 

petition where the offer does not determine the amount of"costs of suit, 

including reasonable attorney fe s" recoverable under both the offer and the 

statute. The policy behind the i-discrimination fee shifting statutes under 

Washington law demands a Jibe al construction. RCW 49.60.020. 

The statute mandates that it be construed liberally for the 
accomplishment of its declared purposes. RCW 49.60.020. The 
statute embodies a publ c policy of 'the highest priority.' Allison v. 
Housing Auth., II8 Wn 2d 79, 82I P.2d 34 (199I ). 

Xiengv. Peoples Nat'! Bank, I 0 Wn.2d 5I2, 52I, 844 P.2d 389 (1993). 

RCW 49.60.030 (2) pro ides: 

Any person deeming imself or herself injured by any act m 
violation of this chapte shall have a civil action ... together with 
the cost of suit inclu ing reasonable attorneys' fees or any 
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other appropriate re edy authorized by this chapter ... 

!d. (emphasis added) 

2. Defendant Did Not Establish "Clear" Evidence of a Waiver b 
Plaintiff of Fees of ontinued Liti ation of a Fee Petition. 

Rule 68 offers, howev r, differ from contracts with respect to 
attorney fees. We ha e held that any waiver or limitation of 
attorney fees in settle ents of § 1983 cases must be clear and 
unambiguous. Muckles oot Tribe v. Puget Sound Power & Light 
Co., 875 F.2d 695, 98 (9th Cir.1989). . . . In resolving the 
subsequent attorney fee litigation, we stated that 'any party wishing 
to foreclose a suit for § 988 fees must negotiate a provision waiving 
attorneys' fees.' !d. e placed the burden squarely on the 
defendant to demonst te by 'clear language in the release' that 
fees had been waived o otherwise negotiated. 

['][I]f the language i the release is unclear or ambiguous, 
surrounding circumstan es may clearly manifest the intent of the 
parties that attorneys' fe s be waived .... Conversely, if the defendant 
can provide clear evid nee that demonstrates that an ambiguous 
clause was intended by oth parties to provide for the waiver of fees, 
then the defendant is ab lved ofliability.['] 

!d. We see no reason by the logic of Muckleshoot should not 
apply to all civil rights settlements, whether settled by negotiated 
consent decrees or R le 68 offers. As stated by the Northern 
District of Illinois whe confronted with a similar situation, "'it 
would be ludicrous and manifestly unjust to allow the 
Defendants to argue a ter the fact that their offer really means 
more than it says."' ateree v. Rockett, 668 F.Supp. 1155, 1159 
(N.D.Ill.1987) .... Acco , Shorter v. Valley Bank and Trust, 678 
F.Supp. 714 (N.D.Ill.l 88); Blake v. Yackovich, 683 F.Supp. 240 
(D.C.Utah 1988); Tyler . Meola, 113 F.R.D. 184 (N.D.Ohio 1986). 
Cf Corder v. Gates, 6 8 F.Supp. 1418 (C.D.Cal.l988) (rejecting 
Rule 68 offer because 'n meeting of the minds'). 

Erdman v. Cochise County A ·zona, et al, 926 F.2d 877, 880-81 

( 1991) (emphasis added). 
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3. Adverse Effect ofR 

Allowing the Petitioner be awarded recoverable fees for the time 

and costs invested in a Fee Petifon is necessary to put the parties on the 

same footing, or, given the typic 1 disincentive of the private party 

contesting a government agency at least provide the private person's 

attorney some incentive to litiga e. In the absence of such a rule, a Defendant 

can circumvent the court system to defeat the value of its "offer of 

judgment" simply by putting Pl intiff to a hotly litigated contest requiring 

Plaintiff to expend substantial c sts and her counsel to invest another year of 

litigation. CR 68 allows Defend nt to use the power of the Civil Rules with 

increased "leverage" to resolve ases. The Rule does not, however, force 

"waiver" or "release" of rights o remedies not resolved and still to be 

litigated after the Offer of Judg ent. CR 68 is not a tool for Defendants to 

overreach or engage in sharp de ling with Plaintiffs who are forced to act in 

an artificially limited timeframe and in the heat of litigation. Nor is it a tool 

for Defendants to conceal or mi represent intention to assert "acceptance" as 

a waiver to the "cost" of ongoin litigation necessitated to determine the 

value to be paid under the "Offe ". Such a use ofCR 68 in this case clearly 

tips the balance between "full c mpensation" ofRCW 49.60 representation, 

and making discrimination plain iffs rely on "pro bono" goodwill of a few 

counsel. 
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In this case, after makin the CR 68 Offer of Judgment, the DOT 

retained an expert witness, and ontested a majority of Petitioner Johnson's 

Fee Petition. Suppose the DOT so sought to take depositions regarding the 

fees, and did discovery of vend rs' costs and the like. Would Petitioner's 

counsel be required to bear and espond to endless further proceedings, and 

would Plaintiff's "accepted" aw d be diminished with endless costs to 

recover the costs already "offer d", without the "fee shifting" protection of 

RCW 49.60.030? Would it go s far as to include appeals of the Fee Petition, 

and would Johnson's attorney fi es be wiped out by having to donate years of 

trial court, appellate advocacy, d possible remand for further proceedings, 

just to collect "pretrial-offer ofj dgment" RCW 49.60.030 attorney fees and 

costs? 

The decision of the Cou of Appeals undermines RCW 49.60.030 

and the language of CR 68, to d feat the "public policy of the highest order" 

in the WLAD. 

4. Course of Conduct 

Petitioner's counsel re lved the case of Burklow v. State of 

Washington with the State ofW hington under an identically worded 

Offer of Judgment not 6 (six) m nths before Johnson's Offer. Appendix 2, 

3. In Burklow, the State of Was ington did not contest the fees for litigation 

of the fee petition. Rather, in th t case the State of Washington paid fees for 
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litigating the fee petition. CP 11 5-1160. The State of Washington was 

represented by the very same o fice ofthe Attorney General in Burklow as 

in Johnson. Further, the Offer f Judgment states the purpose is to 

"eliminate the added costs of fi rther trial preparation" for defendant, not 

to eliminate costs of a Fee Peti ·on. CP 1155-1160. 

When the State enters int an agreement with one of its citizens, it has 

a duty to act fairly. Bd of Rege ts ofUniv. Wash. v. City of Seattle, 108 

Wn.2d 545,551-552,741 P.2d 1(1987). Extrinsic evidence is essential to 

analyzing the state's conduct at issue. Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 

667, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). 

Prior to Karen Johnson's ccepting the Offer of Judgment, there was 

discussion between counsel ab ut whether to enter into a "settlement" 

rather than the "Offer of Judg ent," which would have allowed a more 

plainly structured resolution. I email, the "settlement" was compared to 

the time-limited "offer of judg ent," and Johnson's counsel wrote to 

DOT's counsel: 

NO. The rule is that fe sand costs incurred in seeking 'reasonable 
attorney fees and costs under RCW 49.60 are recoverable. Your 
[settlement] offer does ot settle what reasonable attorney fees and 
costs will be and RCW 9.60 provides that fees necessary to obtain 
reasonable fees and cos s are recoverable. We cannot resolve this if 
you can put us to endle s litigation on the fees and costs. Such fees 
would be recoverable nder the 'Offer of Judgment' so why not 
the [settlement] Offer? 
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CP 1194-1196. 

Plaintiff and Defense c unsel had specifically discussed the 

"Burklow formula." DOT's co nsel responded to Johnson's counsel's 

email very differently in the po t-acceptance pleadings. DOT's counsel 

wrote: 

I don't know whether uch fees are recoverable under the Offer of 
Judgment or not. I hav not done research on the issue and don't 
know what position my client will ultimately take. If, as you claim, 
the rule is that fees inc rred in such disputes are recoverable, then 
the (sic) presumably th rule will control without any input from 
me. I am not willing to agree on behalf of my client to a 'rule' in 
this settlement offer, o in the offer of judgment, at this time ... 
Having not seen any ccounting or documentation or amount, I 
can't tell whether my c ient will ask me to dispute the fees or not 
or whether there will b any litigation .... thus I put it as a term in 
the offer of judgment nd in the settlement offer that the parties 
may refer it to the cou if they cannot agree between counsel. The 
best that I can do at th s time is rest on the plain language of the 
settlement offer and of he offer of judgment. 

CP 1194 (emphasis added). 

If the counsel for the de endant doesn't know whether fees are 

recoverable, then the offer is iguous, even in the eyes of the defendant. 

If ambiguous, then the entitlem nt has not been waived. Thus, with no 

factual question as to the am big ity at the time of acceptance, the State is in 

no position to contend either a I ck of ambiguity or the presence of a "clear 

unambiguous waiver". Instead f following the previous course of dealing in 

Burklow regarding this identical y worded Offer of Judgment, the DOT 
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relied on Guerrero v. Cummings 70 F .3d 1111 (9th Cir. 1995) for the 

proposition that no post-offer fe s incurred for a Fee Petition should be 

awarded. Guerrero is not contr lling authority. Other federal case law 

reaches a different conclusion re arding a Rule 68 offer. In Lasswell v. City 

of Johnston City, 436 F.Supp.2d 974, 980-982 (S.D. Ill. 2006), CP 1168-

1182, the Court awarded fees in urred up to the time of acceptance of the 

offer, and fees incurred in prep ation of a fee request, where the offer was 

as follows:" ... on all the plaintif s state and federal claims for the sum of 

$1000 plus costs accrued to da e, to be determined by the court." CP 

1177, 1182 (emphasis added). 

The Offer in this case, .1! hnson, states similar to Lasswell: 

.... awardable costs and reasonable attorney's fees accrued in this 
lawsuit up to the dat /time of this Offer, which sum shall be 
determined by the Kin County Superior Court in the event that 
counsel for the parties annot agree within 1 0 days of Plaintiffs 
timely acceptance. 

CP 1158. 

The Lasswell court, in a thorizing the fees incurred in preparing the 

petition for fees emphasized the ublic policy considerations and noted that:

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