RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Jan 13, 2014, 1:26 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 89661-5



# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KAREN JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

TAD ROBINSON O'NEILL WSBA No. 37153, OPI #91019 Assistant Attorney General 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2033



#

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

#### IV. **ARGUMENT**

Further review of this case is unwarranted. Ms. Johnson fails to articulate how this decision is in conflict with any Washington case law or how the interpretation of this case-specific contract constitutes a matter of substantial public concern. In fact, the Court of Appeals applied wellsettled law to the facts of this case, determining that the trial court acted within its discretion. The Court of Appeals' reasoning is consistent with Washington and federal law and, because it is an interpretation of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1202, 1206. <sup>6</sup> Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1204-05.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1207-1208.

specific contract, does not present an issue of substantial public interest. Similarly, the Court of Appeals' holding regarding a treating psychologist not retained as an expert is limited in scope to the unusual facts of this case and review is not warranted

### A. Standard of Review

Discretionary review in this case is governed by RAP 13.4(b), and is appropriate "only" if it meets one of four enumerated criteria. Ms. Johnson's petition fails to explicitly identify the alleged basis for review, but appears to argue review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), conflict with Supreme Court precedent, citing to this court's decision in *Blair v. Washington State Univ.*, 8 or RAP 13.4(b)(4), an issue of substantial public interest.

Initially, the appellate standard of review explains why Supreme Court review is unnecessary. Appellate courts review fee decisions for manifest abuse of discretion. The manifest abuse of discretion standard applies to all attorney fee awards, including those interpreting the award of reasonable attorneys' fees under RCW 49.60.030(2) (WLAD). The trial court here fully complied with this court's admonition from *Mahler v. Szucs* to "take an *active* role in assessing the reasonableness of fee awards,

<sup>10</sup> See e.g., Pham, 159 Wn.2d at 538-41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 108 Wn.2d 558, 573, 740 P.2d 1379 (1987). Petr's Br. at 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Chuong Van Pham v. City of Seattle, 159 Wn.2d 527, 538, 151 P.3d 976 (2007); Boeing Co. v. Sierracin Corp., 108 Wn.2d 38, 65, 738 P.2d 665 (1987).

rather than treating costs decisions as a litigation afterthought." Here. where the trial court exercised its discretion and awarded all reasonable attorney fees, its decision is not in conflict with Blair's stated goal of fully compensating attorneys who take WLAD claims.

#### B. The Court of Appeals Decision Is Entirely Consistent With Case Law Providing For Segregation of Unsuccessful Claims

Under the lodestar method, the trial court should discount hours spent on unsuccessful claims, including time on ancillary or parallel litigation. 12 Holding these rules apply in discrimination cases, the *Pham* Court upheld the trial court's reduction of time related to an unsuccessful injunctive claim, stating "that is why the law requires us to defer to the trial court's judgment on these issues."13 One commentator described the rule in this way: "Pham represents a significant statement by the Supreme Court that trial courts must be very aggressive about excluding attorney time spent on unsuccessful portions of an overall successful litigation effort."<sup>14</sup>

Far from conflicting with Washington case law, the trial court's decision in this case represents a straightforward application of it. The trial court appropriately focused on whether the unsuccessful

<sup>11</sup> Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434-35, 957 P.2d 632 (1998) (emphasis in

the original).

12 Absher Const. Co. v. Kent Sch. Dist. No. 415, 79 Wn App. 841, 847, 917 P.2d

Pham v. Seattle, 159 Wn.2d at 538, 539-540.
 Talmadge, Philip and Mark Jordan, Attorney Fees in Washington, at 146 (Lodestar Publishing 2007).

accommodation claim shared a common core of facts and legal theories with the successful age and gender discrimination claims, concluding it did not. CP at 1478. With this factual determination, exclusion of time spent on Ms. Johnson's unsuccessful accommodation claim is both consistent with and required by Pham. Further appellate review on these facts will not clarify the law on segregation of unsuccessful claims.

Nonetheless, Ms. Johnson contends the trial court erred because the discovery time spent on the administrative claim overlapped with the civil suit. 15 For this proposition, Ms. Johnson cites, without analysis, Steele v. Lundgren. 16 Steele, however, is unavailing for two reasons. First, the Steele court provided no analysis of how to determine if claims are overlapping; it merely confirmed that the trial court has the discretion to make that determination.<sup>17</sup> And in fact, Steele did not involve separate accommodation and discrimination claims as in this case. 18 Here, the trial court was well within its discretion in deciding that Ms. Johnson's accommodation claim was separate from her discrimination claims. Second, the trial court limited its exclusion in this case and only excluded time spent on administrative pleadings, administrative correspondence,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Petr.'s Br. at 16.

 <sup>16 96</sup> Wn. App. 773, 783, 982 P.3d 619 (1999).
 17 Steele, 96 Wn. App. at 783 ("The trial court did not abuse its discretion).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Steele, 96 Wn. App. at 775 (Steele brought retaliation, discrimination, sexual harassment, a hostile work environment claims, and only the hostile work environment claims survived).

and the limited administrative depositions. CP at 702, 722-23, 1464-67. The trial court thus allowed recovery for time not exclusively directed at the unsuccessful claim. Because the trial court was in the best position to make this determination, further appellate review is unnecessary and unwarranted.<sup>19</sup>

# C. Enforcing Clear and Unambiguous Contract Language is Consistent with Case Law and Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Under both Washington and federal law, CR 68 offers are contractual in nature and allow an offer to limit recovery "to the effect specified in [its] offer." The purpose of CR 68 is to encourage settlement by promoting certainty and eliminating unintended results.<sup>20</sup> As both state and federal courts have noted, a defendant is the master of what is offered.<sup>21</sup> Waiver of attorney fee recovery in a CR 68 offer, however, must be clear and unambiguous.<sup>22</sup>

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this case concurs with existing federal and state precedent holding that the terms in a CR 68 offer are enforceable as written.<sup>23</sup> Further, the decision is favorable to civil rights

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Pham, 159 Wn.2d at 540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Wallace v. Kuehner, 111 Wn. App. 809, 822, 49 P.3d 823 (2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Nusom v. Comh Woodburn, Inc., 122 F.3d 830, 833 (9th Cir. 1997); Seaborn Pile Driving Co., Inc. v. Glew, 132 Wn. App 261, 272, 131 P.3d 910 (2006); Hodge v. Dev. Servs. of America, 65 Wn. App. 576, 584, 828 P.2d 1175 (1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Nusom, 122 F.3d at 833.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1203 ("the terms of the offer control to the extent to which attorney fees and costs may be awarded."); Hodge, 65 Wn. App. at 584.

plaintiffs, expressly endorsing a rule that requires any waiver of attorney fees in WLAD cases be clear and unambiguous.<sup>24</sup> This holding is consistent with Washington case law from the last 20 years as well as with federal precedent.<sup>25</sup> In *Guerrero v. Cummings*, for example, the Ninth Circuit addressed a CR 68 offer virtually identical to the offer in this case and found it to be a clear and unambiguous waiver of fees after the date of the offer.<sup>26</sup>

Ms. Johnson has produced no contrary case authority to contradict this well established approach to CR 68. She cites *Lasswell v. City of Johnston City*, a federal district court case from Illinois.<sup>27</sup> *Lasswell*, however, expressly endorses the *Guerrero's* analysis and holds that the language in *Lasswell* was ambiguous.<sup>28</sup> Ms. Johnson's citation, for the first time, to *Erdman v. Cochise County et. al.*<sup>29</sup> does not reveal any contradictory authority; the *Erdman* court repeats the rule that waiver of fees must be clear, and concludes that in that case, because "the terms of the accepted

<sup>29</sup> 926 F.2d 877 (9th Cir. 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1203 ("A waiver of attorney fees and costs must be unambiguous in order to be binding.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Hodge, 65 Wn. App. at 584, ("Accordingly, it would be prudent practice and we strongly recommend that where a defendant intends that this offer shall include any attorneys' fees provided for in the underlying statute he expressly so state."); Seaborn, 132 Wn. App. at 272 ("[A] wise offeror will expressly state that the offer includes attorney fees... Seaborn as the maker of the offer, should have availed itself of the chance to contravene the CR 68 default rule."); Guerrero v. Cummings, 70 F.3d 1111, 1113 (9th Cir. 1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Guerrero, 70 F.3d at 1112-13 (9th Cir. 1995) (noting that language "up to the date of this offer" was clear and unambiguous).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Petr.'s Br. at 14-15 citing, Lasswell v. City of Johnston City, 436 F.Supp.2d 974 (S.D. Ill. 2006).

<sup>974 (</sup>S.D. III. 2006).

<sup>28</sup> Lasswell, 436 F.Supp.2d at 981 (reasoning that "costs then accrued" is ambiguous as to whether that was the date of the offer or the date of the judgment.).

offer did not clearly exclude an additional attorney fee award as required [by our case law, the City is bound to the letter of its agreement."<sup>30</sup> Here, the Court of Appeals opinion concluding that the clear terms of the CR 68 offer bind both DOT and Ms. Johnson is consistent with both state and federal law. Thus, there is little or no precedential value to further appellate review.

Ms. Johnson also fails to elucidate how this issue is of substantial public concern. As the *Hodge* court explained in analyzing a discrimination claim; "The purpose of CR 68 is to promote fair settlements. This is best accomplished by eliminating uncertainty and any possible unintended consequences for either party in connection with the making, accepting, or rejecting of CR 68 offers."<sup>31</sup> That public policy is furthered by the holding in this case. In following the analysis of Guerrero, the Court of Appeals correctly reasoned that allowing defendants to make CR 68 offers that limit the amount of attorney fees may force plaintiffs to make a difficult choice, but it does not deny them access to the courts or significantly deter suit.<sup>32</sup> In the end, the Plaintiff may always reject the settlement offer, and that voluntary decision is easier to make when clearly articulated settlement terms are upheld.

Erdman, 926 F.2d 877, 881.
 Hodge, 65 Wn. App. at 584 (1992).
 Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1204.

Nor does Ms. Johnson's claim that she was misled justify additional appellate review. The trial court found, as a factual matter, that DOT's representations were consistent with the plain language of the CR 68 offer.<sup>33</sup> The trial court did not abuse its discretion where DOT's communication explicitly rejected Ms. Johnson's assertion of a rule.<sup>34</sup>

# D. Exclusion of Unreliable Time is Consistent With Washington Case Law

The Court of Appeals unremarkably held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding unreliable time: "The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding from its calculation of the lodestar amount hours that were not proved to its satisfaction to have been worked." Because this decision is directly in line with this Court's precedent that requires trial courts to determine, independently, what hours were reasonably spent, further review is unwarranted.

This Court has explained that in making fee determinations, the law requires deference to the trial court's judgment and that the issue on review is not whether the appellate court would have awarded a different

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP at 1479.

Moreover, Ms. Johnson's position on appeal carries with it a substantial procedural problem. As the Court of Appeals noted, assuming Ms. Johnson was correct that there was no meeting of the minds over whether fees on fees were recoverable, the appropriate remedy is rescission, not a unilateral modification of the contract in her own favor. *Johnson*, 313 P.3d at 1205, fn. 11.

<sup>35</sup> Johnson, 313 P.3d at 1206.

amount, but whether the trial court abused its discretion.<sup>36</sup> The party seeking an award for attorney fees bears the burden of proving that such fees are reasonable, and the trial court must independently determine that amount.<sup>37</sup> The trial court may not simply rely upon the billing records of the attorney seeking fees.<sup>38</sup>

Although Ms. Johnson attempts to recast the trial court's decision as being purely about whether her counsel's fees were contemporaneous,<sup>39</sup> that is a mischaracterization. Plaintiff's counsel here is claiming that her contemporaneous records were inaccurate and that she should be allowed to adjust them upward to account for her own inaccuracy. The trial court's concern was with the unreliability of her counsel's *method* for adding time to her contemporaneously kept billing records.<sup>40</sup> "An attorney must keep specific, contemporaneous time records of fees incurred . . . Courts are justifiably skeptical about fee declaration creating time after the fact."<sup>41</sup> The trial court's concern with reliable records is in line with established precedent and its decision to be skeptical on these facts is not an abuse of discretion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Pham, 159 Wn.2d at 540.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Scott Fetzer Co. v. Weeks, 122 Wn.2d 141, 147, 151, 859 P.2d 1210 (1993); Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 435, 957 P.2d 632 (1998).

<sup>38</sup> Nordstrom, Inc. v. Tampourlos, 107 Wn.2d 735, 744, 733 P.2d 208 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Petr.'s Br. 17-18

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> CP at 1480 (noting the court's skepticism with counsel's methodology noting that Plaintiff's counsel failed to explain how her contemporaneous documentation did not capture the added time).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Talmadge, Attorney Fees in Washington, p. 132.

And contrary to Ms. Johnson's arguments, the trial court's decision here is also consistent with *Bowers v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*<sup>42</sup> and *Clausen v. Icicle Seafoods, Inc.*<sup>43</sup> The *Bowers* court expressly stated that a fee award must be supported by "reasonable documentation". Here the trial court's determination that the additional time was not reasonably documented is consistent with *Bowers*. The *Clausen* court addressed only whether a trial court may apply a percentage reduction, holding that it may do so. Tellingly, the *Clausen* court cited, with approval, reasoning from a federal district court case in which a trial court reduced the final recovery to 44% of fees for hours that "were duplicative or inadequately documented." Here, where the trial court determined that a 14% reduction in fees was warranted for inadequate documentation, the decision is entirely within the trial court's discretion and consistent with *Clausen*. It is also consistent with the federal approach.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> 100 Wn.2d 581, 675 P.2d (1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> 174 Wn.2d 70, 272 P.3d 827 (2012).

<sup>44</sup> Bowers, 100 Wn.2d at 597.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup>Clausen, 174 Wn.2d at 82-83 (Identifying the appellate issue as, "Icicle contends it was improper for the trial court to segregate hours based on a generalized percentage reduction rather than on actual hourly records. . . Icicle makes no claim that the hours themselves were invalid.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Clausen, 174 Wn.2d at 82 citing Peake v. Chevron Shipping Co., No C00-4228 MHP, 2004 WL 1781008, 2004 A.M.C. 2778, 2791 (N.D. Aug. 10, 2004).

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